STATE OF FLORI DA
Dl VI SI ON OF ADM NI STRATI VE HEARI NGS
THAI SE A. HAMPTON,
Petitioner,
VS. Case No. 01-3354

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTI ONS,

Respondent .
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RECOVMENDED ORDER

Don W Davis, Admnistrative Law Judge of the Division of
Adm ni strative Hearings, conducted the final hearing in this case
on March 26, 2002, in Marianna, Florida. The follow ng
appear ances were entered:

For Petitioner: Marva A Davis, Esquire
121 Sout h Madi son Street
Post O fice Box 551
Qui ncy, Florida 32353-0551

For Respondent: Gary L. Grant, Esquire
Departnment of Corrections
2601 Blair Stone Road
Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-2500

STATEMENT OF THE | SSUE

The issue for determnation is whether Petitioner was
subjected to discrimnation in the work environnent by the
Departnent of Corrections (DOC due to Petitioner's race, sex, and

handi cap in violation of Section 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes.



PRELI M NARY STATEMENT

Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimnation against DOC with
the Florida Conm ssion on Human Rel ati ons (FCHR) on Decenber 3,
1996, alleging that her job had been term nated by DOC on the
basis of Petitioner's race, sex, and handi cap.

On or about June 26, 2000, the FCHR issued its
Det erm nation: No Cause.

On or about August 17, 2001, Petitioner filed a Petition
for Relief wwth the FCHR.  Subsequently, on or about August 24,
2001, the case was forwarded to the Division of Adm nistrative
Hearings (DOAH) for formal proceedings. Initially assigned to
Adm ni strative Law Judge Ella Jane P. Davis, the case was
transferred to Adm nistrative Law Judge Don W Davis on March 8,
2002, for conduct of all further proceedi ngs.

During the hearing, Petitioner testified on her own behal f
and al so presented the testinony of three other wi tnesses and two
conposite exhibits. DOC presented the testinony of four w tnesses
along with five exhibits. Both parties presented four joint
exhibits. No transcript of the proceedi ng was provi ded.

Both parties filed Proposed Recormmended Orders which have
been reviewed and considered in the preparation of this

Recommended O der.



FI NDI NGS OF FACT

1. Petitioner, Thaise Hanpton, is a fenmale African-
Anmeri can.

2. On January 20, 1995, Hanpton was hired by the
Correctional Educational School Authority (CESA) to work as a
teacher at DOC s Apal achee Correctional Institution (AC).
Hanpt on had not worked before that tine.

3. During the 1995 | egi sl ative session, CESA was abolished
by the State of Florida Legislature. CESA s education and job
trai ning program functions were transferred to DOC al ong with
nmost positions, inclusive of Hanpton’s. Hanpton was pl aced on
probationary status as a DOC enpl oyee, effective July 1, 1996.

4. On April 12, 1996, Hanpton had an on-the-job injury
when she slipped and fell in the cafeteria of the institution.
The State of Florida's Division of R sk Managenment (Risk
Managenent) adm ni stered the workers’ conpensation case for the
State of Florida. Hanpton was treated by a physician and
excused fromwork because of the injury.

5. Hanpton was eval uated by M chael W Reed, MD., an
aut hori zed treating physician for Hanpton’s work-rel ated injury,
on July 15, 1996. By correspondence dated July 22, 1996,

Dr. Reed reported his evaluation of Hanpton. Dr. Reed found

t hat Hanpton suffered from | unbar degenerative disc disease. He



recormended physical therapy and |ight duty work restrictions on
[ifting objects greater than 20 pounds.

6. On August 29, 1996, DOC received further correspondence
forwarded by Ri sk Managenent fromDr. Reed. In that
correspondence dated August 28, 1996, Dr. Reed stated that
Hanpton could return to work full duty and that she had reached
Maxi mum Medi cal | nprovenent, with a O percent permanent
inmpairnment rating. He did not indicate that there were any work
restrictions.

7. Hanpton reported to work on Septenber 3, 1996. At that
time, she was utilizing a wal ker to anbul ate around the
conmpound. Joseph Thonpson, the Warden at ACI, and the
hiring/firing authority over Hanpton at that tine, expressed
security concerns that Hanpton was utilizing a wal ker. He asked
t he personnel manager, Derida McMIlian, to inquire into the
situation.

8. As aresult, MMIlian contacted Paul Bohac, Hanpton’s
supervi sor, and requested that both he and Hanpton cone to her
office. She then inforned Hanpton that she was not authorized
to utilize a wal ker unl ess a physician had prescri bed one for
her use. She told Hanpton that she was in receipt of a letter
fromDr. Reed that indicated she could return to work on regul ar
duty with no restrictions and that a wal ker represents such a

restriction.



9. MMIllian then told Hanpton that she could not use a
wal ker at work until she produced a nedical report indicating a
need for sane. She also told Hanpton that a physician’s
statenent woul d be needed or her |eave would not be authorized.
Hanpt on stated that she understood and woul d provide the
appropri ate medi cal reports on Septenber 5, 1996.

10. McMIlian relayed Hanpton’s statenents that she would
provi de docunentation by Septenber 5, 1996, to Margaret
Forehand, a personnel technician who was a liaison with the
D vision of Ri sk Managenent at that time. Because no such
docunent ati on was recei ved by Septenber 5, 1996, Forehand called
Hanpt on at home on Septenber 9, 1996. Hanpton advi sed her that
she woul d get her attorney to obtain a doctor’s statenent.

11. On Septenber 10, 1996, Hanpton call ed Forehand and
said that her |awer would obtain a doctor’s statenment and send
it to DOC

12. On Septenber 17, 1996, Hanpton contacted Forehand with
guestions regardi ng her paycheck received on Septenber 13, 1996.
For ehand advi sed that DOC had not received the physician's
statenent that was to have been provided on Septenber 5, 1996.
Forehand reiterated at that tinme that Hanpton needed to provide
a doctor’s note as to her status. Hanpton told Forehand that

her attorney would be taking care of the natter.



13. On Septenber 18, 1996, Forehand spoke with Alice
Taylor at the Division of R sk Managenent and was advi sed t hat
Ri sk Managenent had received a letter froma Dr. Ayala regarding
Hanpton’s condition. Taylor told Forehand that Ayala's letter
did not change anyt hi ng-- Hanpton had not been renoved from work
or prescribed a wal ker.

14. Neither McMIIlian nor Forehand was aware of any
prescription for a wal ker by a Dr. Randall dated June 3, 1996,
until March 11, 1997, when they were shown the prescription.
Addi tionally, Forehand had no record indicating that Dr. Randal l
was approved by the Division of Ri sk Managenent as a treating
physi ci an.

15. On Septenber 19, 1996, Hanpton appeared at the
personnel office. She did not have a prescription for a wal ker
at that tinme. Thus, Hanpton was considered to be on
unaut hori zed | eave status since Septenber 5, 1996.

16. Warden Thonpson term nated Hanpton' s enpl oynent on
Sept enber 19, 2001, for excessive unauthorized absences.

17. Hanpton alleged that several white mal e enpl oyees and
an inmate were all owed accommodations: M. Amons; Paul Bohac;
and i nmate John Peavy. Warden Thonpson testified that he
approved a request for M. Amons to use a wheel chair after

receiving a request fromthe CESA Personnel Ofice. He was



infornmed that M. Amons would be retiring in 30 days.
M. Amons was not a DOC enpl oyee.

18. Warden Thonpson stated that he was not aware that Pau
Bohac had worn a back brace into the office or that he had
brought an ergonomic chair into the office. |If he had known
that he was using special nedical equipment, he would have
requested a prescription for the devices. Paul Bohac was not
utilizing a wal ker.

19. Warden Thonpson was not aware that inmate John Peavy
was issued a wal king stick; however, inmates were allowed to
utilize assistive wal king devices if the nedical departnent
aut horized it.

20. Warden Thonpson approved Hanpton's term nati on because
of her unauthorized absences. She refused to work at full duty
or provide a physician s statenment docunmenting any work
restrictions.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

21. The Division of Administrative Hearings has
jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this cause,
pursuant to Section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes.

22. The authority of the FCHR is derived from Chapter 760,
Florida Statutes. FCHR and the Florida courts have determ ned
that federal discrimnation |aw should be used as gui dance when

construi ng provisions of Section 760.10 of the Florida G vi



Rights Act. See Brand v. Florida Power Corp. 633 So. 2d 504,

509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Florida Departnent of Comunity Affairs

v. Bryant, 586 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Consequently,
an exam nation of federal case | aw analyzing issues simlar to
the ones presented in the instant case has been made.
23. The Florida Civil R ghts Act provides, in pertinent
part, that it is an unlawful enploynent practice for an
enpl oyer:
(1)(a) to discharge or refuse to hire any
i ndi vidual, or otherwise to discrimnate
agai nst any individual with respect to
conpensation, terns, conditions, or
privil eges of enploynment because of such
i ndividual's race, color, religion, sex,
national origin, age, handicap, or narita
st at us.

Section 760.10, Florida Statutes.

24. Moreover, although Section 760.10, Florida Statutes,
does not define handi cap, Section 760.22(7)(a), Florida
Statutes, part of the Fair Housing Act, defines a handi capped
person as one who "has a physical . . . inpairnment which
substantially limts one or nore major life activities . . . or
is regarded as having, such physical or nental
inmpairment . . . ." This definitionis virtually identical to
the one set forth in the federal Rehabilitation Act, 29 U S.C

Section 701, et seq., and related regul ati ons. To wit,

pursuant to Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, an individual



with a handicap is one "who (i) has a physical or nental

i mpai rment which substantially limts one or nore of such
person’s major life activities, (ii) has a record of such an
inmpairnment, or (iii) is regarded as having such an inpairnent.”
29 U.S.C. Section 706(8)(B). The Anericans with Disabilities
Act (ADA) also contains a virtually identical definition for
"disability." 42 U S.C Section 12102(2).

25. Here, an initial analysis of the case requires a
proper understandi ng of the burden of proof allocations. As
Hanpt on has set forth several theories or allegations of
di scrimnation, each will be examned in turn. First, Hanpton
clainms discrimnation based on handi cap. |In handicap
di scrimnati on cases where the enploynent decision is shown to
have been nmade solely on the basis of the Petitioner’s handi cap,
the criteria for burden of proof allocations are those set forth
under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U S.C. Section
794.

26. In the present instance, however, Hanpton al so
contends that the enpl oynent decision was nade for reasons
unrel ated to her alleged handi cap. The franework for analysis
is that set forth by the Suprene Court of the United States in

McDonnel | - Dougl as Corporation v. Geen, 411 U S 792 (1973), and

Texas Departnent of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248

(1981) .



27. Pursuant to the MDonnell -Dougl as/ Burdi ne cases, the

Petitioner has the burden of establishing by a preponderance of

the evidence a prinma facie case of unlawful discrimnation. |If

a prima facie case is established, the Respondent mnust then

articulate sone legitimate, non-discrimnatory reason for the
action taken against the Petitioner. Once this non-
discrimnatory reason is offered by the Respondent, the burden
then shifts back to Petitioner to denonstrate that the offered
reason is nerely a pretext for discrimnation.

28. In applying the McDonnel | -Dougl as/ Burdi ne test within

t he uni que context of Hanpton's acconpanyi ng handi cap
discrimnation clains, the test nmust be nodified to a certain
degree. Thus, while the allocation of burden-shifting is

retained, the elenents of a prina facie case are as foll ows:

Hanpt on nmust establish that she:

(1) has a disability;

(2) is qualified, wwth or wthout
reasonabl e accommodations, to performthe
essential functions of her job;

(3) identified for the enployer a
reasonabl e acconmodati on; and

(4) was unlawfully discrimnated agai nst
because of her disability.

Schwertfager v. Cty of Boynton Beach, 42 F. Supp. 2d 1347 (S.D

1999); Brand, 633 So. 2d at 5009.
29. In addition, Hanpton must denonstrate that the

enpl oyer had know edge of the disability or considered the

10
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enpl oyee to be disabled. LaChance v. Duffy’'s Draft House, 146

F.3d 832, 835 (11th Gr. 1998); Cook v. Robert G Witers, Inc.,

980 F. Supp. 1463, 1467 (MD. Fla. 1997).

30. Here, Hanpton has not shown that she was handi capped
within the neaning of the Florida Cvil R ghts Act at the tine
of her term nation.

31. In order to denonstrate that she was handi capped
wi thin the neaning of Chapter 760.10, Florida Statutes, Hanpton
needs to prove that she had a physical or nental inpairnent
whi ch substantially limted one or nore of her major life
activities or was regarded as having such an inpairnent. She
has failed to neet this burden. In sum neither the objective
medi cal evi dence presented nor Hanpton’s own testinony
denonstrated a substantial limtation of the major life activity
of wal ki ng.

32. Further, there is no evidence that DOC perceived Hanpton
to have a disability. |In fact, based on Dr. Reed' s indications
t hat Hanpton had no restrictions, DOC required a prescription
before it would consider allow ng Hanpton to use a wal ker, an
i ndi cation that DOC believed that Hanpton did not have an
i mpai rment and an entirely reasonabl e concl usi on based on
Dr. Reed s report.

33. The evidence clearly denonstrated that Hanpton was

term nat ed because she was on unaut hori zed | eave bet ween

11



Sept enber 5, 2001, and Septenber 19, 2001. Joseph Thonpson, the
war den who issued the termnation letter, stated that the

term nation was for unauthorized | eave, and Hanpton has
presented no evidence that would tend to underm ne the warden’s
st at enent .

34. Hanpton also avers that DOC s al | eged di scrimnation
agai nst her is indicated by DOC permtting white nal e enpl oyees
and inmates to utilize assistive devices. This allegation is
wi thout nmerit. No evidence was submtted as to whether these
i ndi vi dual s had prescriptions for their assistive devices, the
nature of their jobs, whether nmanagenent had been advi sed of
their use of assistive devices, or whether they were simlarly
situated to her.

35. Even assuning that Hanpton had not failed to establish

a prinma facie case for her handicap discrimnation claim DOC

offered a legitimte non-discrimnatory reason for failing to
accommodat e Hanpton, her failure to provide nedi cal evidence of
an inpairment that substantially interfered with a major life
activity.

36. Next, Hanpton’s clains of race and sex discrimnation
must be anal yzed. As stated above, federal discrimnation |aw
shoul d be used as gui dance when construi ng provisions of
Section 760.10, Florida Statutes. Thus, the MDonnell-

Dougl as/ Burdi ne shifting burden of proof standard is properly

12



utilized for this portion of Hanpton’s claimas well. The

el ements of the prinma facie case are subtly different, however,

than the elenments of her handicap claim Because the clains are
based on race and sex rather than disability, to establish a

prim facie case Hanpton nust denonstrate that:

(a) She is a nmenber of a protected group;

(b) She is qualified for the position;

(c) She was subject to an adverse enpl oynent deci sion;
and

(d) She was treated |l ess favorably than simlarly-
situated persons outside the protected cl ass.

Canino v. EECC, 707 F.2d 468, 32 FEP Cases 139 (11th GCr. 1983);

Smth v. Georgia, 684 F.2d 729, 29 FEP Cases 1134 (11th G r

1982); Lee v. Russell County Board of Education, 684 F.2d 769,

29 FEP Cases 1508 (11th Cr. 1982), appeal after remand, 744
F.2d 768, 36 FEP Cases 22 (11th Gir. 1984).

37. Here, there is no question that Hanpton is African-
Anmerican and fenmale or that she was subjected to an adverse
enpl oynment action. Thus, the only issues are whether she was
qualified for her position; whether she was treated | ess
favorably than sim |l arly-situated persons outside the protected
class; and whether there is a causal connection between her
term nation and her nenbership in a protected class. Hanpton
has failed to neet her burden of proof on these issues.

38. First, she has produced no evidence what soever that

she was qualified for her position. DOCis not required to

13



di sprove Hanpton’s qualifications; rather, Hanpton is required
to come forward with affirmati ve evi dence denonstrating her
qualifications and she has not done so.

39. Second, she has not presented any evidence that
simlarly situated persons not in her protected cl asses were
treated nore favorably. As stated in the analysis of her
handi cap claim there is no evidence that any of the persons
whom she clains were treated nore favorably than her were
simlarly situated. The undersigned notes that one of the
persons naned was an inmate, one did not work for DOC, and none
were probationary status, academ c teachers such as Hanpton.
More inportantly, there is no evidence that any of the persons
were knowi ngly allowed to utilize a wal ker or any other
assi stive device wi thout nedical authorization.

40. In sum there is sinply no evidence that Hanpton was
term nated because of her race or sex. As discussed above, the
only credi ble evidence presented as to the notivation for
Hanpton'’s ternmination was the testinony of Warden Thonpson, an
African-Anerican male, that the term nation was for unauthorized
absences. Thus, as with her handi cap clains, Hanpton has al so

failed to establish a prima facie case for race or sex

di scrimnati on.
41. Even had Hanpton been successful in establishing the

initial elements of her case di scussed above, DOC articul ated a

14



non-discrimnatory legitimte reason for the term nation--
unaut hori zed absences--and there is no evidence that this
expl anati on was pretextual in nature.

RECOMVENDATI ON

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Concl usi ons of
Law, it is

RECOMVENDED:

That a Final Order be entered dism ssing the Petition for
Rel i ef .

DONE AND ENTERED t his 24th day of April, 2002, in

Tal | ahassee, Leon County, Florida.

DON W DAVI S

Adm ni strative Law Judge

Division of Adm nistrative Hearings
The DeSoto Buil di ng

1230 Apal achee Par kway

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-3060
(850) 488-9675  SUNCOM 278-9675
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847

www. doah. state.fl.us

Filed with the Cerk of the

Di vision of Adm nistrative Hearings
this 24th day of April, 2002.

COPI ES FURNI SHED

Deni se Crawford, Agency Cerk

Fl ori da Conm ssion on Hunan Rel ati ons
2009 Apal achee Par kway

Suite 100

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32301
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Marva A. Davis, Esquire

121 Sout h Madi son Street
Post O fice Box 551

Qui ncy, Florida 32353-0551

Gary L. Gant, Esquire

Depart ment of Corrections

2601 Blair Stone Road

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-2500

Ceci| Howard, General Counsel

Fl ori da Comm ssi on on Hunan Rel ati ons
2009 Apal achee Par kway

Suite 100

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32301

NOTI CE OF RIGHT TO SUBM T EXCEPTI ONS

Al parties have the right to submt witten exceptions within
15 days fromthe date of this Reconmended Order. Any exceptions
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that
wll issue the final order in this case.
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